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Organization
Overview
Who we are
BC Safety Authority (BCSA) is an independent,
self-funded organization mandated to oversee
the safe installation and operation of technical
systems and equipment. In addition to issuing
permits, licences and certificates, we work with
industry to reduce safety risks through assessment,
education and outreach, enforcement, and research.

What we do
We deliver safety services across the following technologies
in the province:
• Electrical equipment and systems
• Boilers, pressure vessels and refrigeration systems
• Natural gas and propane appliances and systems, including hydrogen
• Elevating devices, such as elevators and escalators
• Railways, including commuter rail
• Passenger ropeways, such as aerial trams and ski lifts
• Amusement devices
• Complex and integrated technical systems involving several technologies
Our products and services include:
•	Assessing technical work and equipment, including collecting information
through physical assessment, incident investigation and registering new
equipment and designs.
•	Certifying individuals and licensing contractors and operators to perform
regulated work.
•	Supporting clients in the development of alternative safety approaches,
and auditing their safety management plans or equivalent standard approaches.
•	Educating and sharing technical systems safety information with our clients
and the broader public to better control risks.
•	Enforcing actions that promote an equitable safety system where all participants
are compliant with regulations.
•	Conducting research, including contributing to provincial and national safety code
development and updating regulations for the technologies we serve.
BCSA operates within a legislative and regulatory framework that includes the:
• Safety Authority Act
• Safety Standards Act and Regulations
• Railway Safety Act and Regulations
• Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act
• Ombudsperson Act
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Our mission
We build your confidence in safety systems for life – through a focus
on risk and support for innovation.

Our vision
Safe technical systems. Everywhere.

Our values
Simplicity: We reduce complexity through common sense and clear intention.
Authenticity: We express our humanity. We are people working
on behalf of people.
Accountability: We do what we say we will do.
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State of Safety Report
The State of Safety Report is a companion document
to the Annual Report, published each year in accordance
with the restated Administrative Agreement between
BCSA and the Province of British Columbia. The report
represents a comprehensive overview of BCSA safety
data and analysis, compiled from incident findings,
assessments, research and enforcement activities,
as well as interactions with clients and consultations
with stakeholders. The full 2015 State of Safety Report
is available on our website at www.safetyauthority.
ca/about/publications/state-of-safety-2015.
The 2015 State of Safety Report is structured to align
with BCSA’s strategic safety goal: to advance the
understanding and management of risk. By sharing
the safety information and insights gained in 2015,
we are providing industry and the public with safety
knowledge to help them reach risk-informed decisions
and safety solutions.
The report shares comprehensive safety data
pertaining to seven regulated technologies,
accompanied by management summaries that provide
context and analysis. Summaries of major and severe
“as found” hazards identified by BCSA safety officers
during physical assessments are also included as well
as incident investigation data.
To convey the scope of safety risks across the province,
the report provides summaries of all incidents reported
to BCSA in 2015 and identifies possible causes and
examines longer-term incident trends related specifically
to ammonia release incidents, carbon monoxide
exposure and passenger ropeway deropements.
We encourage our clients and stakeholders to use
this knowledge to advance their own understanding
and management of safety risks and hazards, in support
of BCSA’s vision of Safe technical systems. Everywhere.
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“BCSA continues meeting objectives that enhance
technical systems safety across the province.”

Message from
the Chair of the Board
Over the last year, I have
observed steady progress
in our understanding of the
sources and impacts
of technical safety risks.
Incident data, longer term
trends and recent
developments in tracking
hazards found during
inspections all demonstrate
meaningful advancements
in BCSA’s oversight and are indications of a healthy
technical safety system in BC.
As another year comes to a close, I am pleased
with the efforts of BC Safety Authority to meet goals
set out in the Business Plan. We are moving further
toward the milestones laid out in our 10-Year Strategy
to advance the understanding of safety risks and the
best ways to manage them. BCSA continues meeting
objectives that enhance technical systems safety
across the province.
In particular, progress was made in connecting
with clients through enhanced products and services
that decrease risk and improve safety systems within
British Columbia. I appreciate the guidance from
our clients and all of our stakeholders in making this
happen and I am pleased with the way our organization
has been listening to feedback and making improvements.

6 | British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2015

I also want to acknowledge the efforts of the organization
to control costs. With a stronger than expected economy,
2015 ended with a strong balance sheet and BCSA
made notable organizational improvements to support
the continued growth required to meet the demands
of stakeholders.
I am inspired by the hard work and dedication that
I see exerted by BCSA’s leaders and employees,
as BCSA continues its efforts to make British Columbia
a safer place. I invite readers to peruse this document,
the 2015 State of Safety Report and to explore
our website, www.safetyauthority.ca, to learn about
new initiatives to improve safety.

Richard Ballantyne
Chair of the Board

“By identifying where risks are most prevalent, and better
allocating our resources as a result, we also remain
accountable to those who pay for the safety system.”
Message from the President
and Chief Executive Officer
In 2015, more people became
part of the safety system than
ever before – to the credit
of our employees, and the
stakeholders who interact with
us. Several years ago, we set
out to build confidence in BC’s
safety system by embracing
the values of simplicity,
authenticity, and accountability.
We have been building teams within the organization that
actively engage our clients. And from those relationships,
we are learning how to create and improve client-facing
systems that add value to our business and theirs. 2015
was a year where we learned how to learn and how
to change our product and service designs to better suit
clients’ needs. Based on feedback, we vastly increased
adaptability and reduced the turn-around time for
developing and rolling out changes that clients have
asked of us, while living our value of simplicity.

and play a greater role in a safety system that
is self-reinforcing. By identifying where risks are most
prevalent, and better allocating our resources as a result,
we also remain accountable to those who pay for the
safety system.
Safety is a shared responsibility. Today, we have far
better insight into risk data and better control of safety
risks than ever before. We are better equipped to serve
clients in ways that matter to them. The work in 2015
provided an indication of the powerful results that can
be achieved when stakeholders voluntarily contribute
and interact with us, trusting that what they share will
encourage Safe technical systems. Everywhere.

Catherine Roome
President and Chief Executive Officer

Our data tools are also part of this story. We began
to fully utilize a new system of gathering risk data
at technical equipment sites, analyzing the information
collected and then returning it to our clients for their
knowledge. We continue to live our authenticity value
by systematically providing our stakeholders with current
information so that they may in turn benefit others,
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Report on
Performance
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REPORT ON PERFORMANCE

OVERVIEW

2015 was the third year in BCSA’s 10-Year Strategy,
and we took purposeful steps to become a knowledgebased business. Throughout the year, we developed
products and services that added value for our clients
and engaged stakeholders in the safety system,
such as offering training programs, sharing more
information, collecting and disseminating useful data,
and increasing collaboration.
We also built stronger connections by taking
opportunities to provide improved client experiences
and better awareness of safety hazards. We invested
in people and technological systems to readily position
BCSA to grow its impact on technical systems safety
in the next year and beyond.
We grew our safety knowledge base in 2015 to better
inform safety management decisions and continue
expansion of our hazard mapping across technologies.
We delivered a new way for clients to access permit
information through the Permit Quick Links feature
on MyConnection and we moved forward with

eliminating paper forms from our offices. We adjusted
some of our teams and roles to support our shortand long-term goals. We also connected more with
industry and stakeholders through technical newsletters,
consultations, meetings, events, social media, proactive
client outreach and our online channels.
Financially, we worked to be fiscally responsible
and operate without a deficit. Our 2015 revenues
exceeded budget expectations, allowing the operating
reserve to return to the target level.
A comprehensive look at BCSA’s contributions to the
safety system in 2015 can be found in our annual State
of Safety Report for 2015, a summary of which is included
in this publication. Furthermore, our 2016-2018 Business
Plan, Growing Participation, and our 10-Year Strategy
provide additional information that complement the
information found in this report. These documents
can be found on BCSA’s website at:
www.safetyauthority.ca/about/publications.
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REPORT ON PERFORMANCE

SAFETY

Phil Gothe
Vice President, Technical Programs

How did your team impact safety
in BC last year?
Managing risks is an effort where all participants
in the safety system must exercise accountability
and leadership. In 2015, we enhanced BCSA’s ability
to share information regarding the nature and degree
of hazards present on job sites and in equipment
operating environments. We also initiated a client fact
sheet pilot with select asset owners and contractors
performing regulated work, introducing a set of client safety
history metrics. These metrics support clients and BCSA
to oversee and better predict risks while identifying
opportunities for improvement and collaboration.

How are you managing efficiencies within
a large region such as BC?
We continue to apply a risk-based approach to safety
oversight based on the information collected from
our network of asset owners, clients, and industry
stakeholders. Our Resource Allocation Program applies
risk-informed criteria and data to assess installations
and operating equipment, identifying system-generated
inspection priorities. Observations collected during
safety officer inspections and investigations are in turn
fed back into our data system to create a learning cycle.
These activities contribute to our knowledge base, which
informs effective and efficient safety oversight decisions.

10 | British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2015

How did you share safety knowledge?
In 2015, we actively built connections with our internal
teams as well as clients. Internally, we created new
hazard maps to assist our safety officers, and we
created a mobile application to make information more
easily accessible and to facilitate data collection. Clients
often expressed their interest in learning more about
different aspects of the safety system, and in response
we expanded client education programs to share safety
knowledge acquired from incident investigations,
“as-found” hazard observations, and regulatory changes.
We also increased the number of newsletters distributed
to clients and provided more safety insights through
articles about real case studies of observed safety
hazards. We look forward to continuing to further our
stakeholder outreach and regulatory analysis to pursue
necessary regulatory updates and amendments.

REPORT ON PERFORMANCE

CLIENTS

Brian Rowland
Vice President, Operations & Service Excellence

How are you providing value to clients?
In 2015, we greatly expanded our client education and
safety knowledge sharing. Our catalogue of face-to-face
and online course offerings, as well as technology
conferences, training events, and online forums
continues to grow and receive very positive client
feedback. We published more e-newsletters to more
clients in all of our technologies to share safety insights,
best practices, and answers to our clients’ frequently
asked safety questions. In addition to providing
value-added products and services to clients who are fully
invested in safety, we also increased our identification
of unpermitted and unsafe work and equipment around
the province. This activity brings more individuals into
the safety system, gives us the opportunity to educate
them about their role in safety, and compels them
to address any safety issues we find.

How are you collaborating with clients?
We want to make it easy for clients to stay connected
to the safety system and to have safety information
at their fingertips. Last year, we collaborated with
clients to introduce several new products. Working
with contractors, we launched the Permit Quick Links
enhancement on MyConnection. This mobile-friendly
feature provides at-a-glance information about permits
and allows clients to quickly access individual permit

data. We collaborated with several contractors
and asset owners to develop a new client fact sheet
that provides an overview of safety history in one
complete and convenient report. Clients with larger
facilities can receive a consolidated view of information
such as permits, declarations and assessments so they
can make global decisions about their overall technical
systems safety.

How are you being proactive to meet
clients’ needs?
Our clients are mobile and increasingly tech-savvy.
We must therefore adapt the way we do business.
In 2015, we sent nearly 40% of our outgoing documents
such as permits and certificates of inspection to clients
via email. We replaced paper forms with electronic
versions, and installed computer kiosks in our regional
offices where client service representatives help clients
to self-serve and to register for the MyConnection
transactional portal. We also now offer gas and electrical
contractors the ability to submit a final installation
declaration via phone through our contact centre,
replacing the need to submit a signed paper form.
For our asset owner clients, we piloted the ability to view
permits and invoices through a new client portal we’re
currently developing, and we will add more self-service
features in 2016, such as invoice payment.

British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2015 | 11

REPORT ON PERFORMANCE

PEOPLE

Sue Gagné
Vice President, Human Resources & Engagement

What strides were made in supporting
employee learning and development
this year?
In 2015, we made the most progress on employee
development in the area of technical training
by delivering a program for safety officers that reflected
the needs of our clients and the safety system. The aim
of the technical training program was to develop skills
in core competencies, such as incident investigation,
auditing, and instructor training; plus, increased skill
levels in high hazard identification and assessment.
For other areas of the organization, an e-learning
curriculum was piloted and feedback was gathered
on how to support learning more effectively. As a result
of employee feedback, the e-learning system will
be available to all employees in 2016 and skill-building
programs will be offered to all employees and leaders.

How are you increasing employee
connection to the 10-Year Strategy?
In 2015, we focused on our organizational capability
and commitment to our 10-Year Strategy by measuring
our cultural transition to a learning-oriented, adaptive
and connected environment. We analyzed the feedback
received from our employee survey and connected
it to client feedback to get a holistic understanding
of how we can help people connect more effectively
with our short and long term goals. We also arranged
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employee focus groups to gather employee
perspectives on learning, connection, and ethics.
Employees have a strong desire to service BCSA clients
well and want to have a voice in corporate decisions.
Based on these findings, we increased employee
connection through videos, internal consultation on
business planning, feedback meetings on safety officer
technology tools, collaborative workspace design, and
cross-departmental presentations. A further action plan
to continue our cultural evolution and progress will be
developed and implemented in 2016.

How are you ensuring that BCSA has
the people to carry forward plans from
the 10-Year Strategy?
We ensure that employee competencies continually
support the achievement of milestones through
attraction and retention of highly-qualified employees
and leveraging employees’ talents at the right times.
In 2015, we supported the changing needs of BCSA
by transitioning roles in specific areas such as Marketing,
Research, IT, and Technical Programs to address
upcoming requirements. Employees also developed
key skills through project participation, acting roles,
and special assignments. To capture employee
qualifications and experience, we implemented the
recruitment module of our HR Management System.

REPORT ON PERFORMANCE

SUSTAINABILITY

Brian Simmers
CFO and Vice President, Corporate Services

What are you doing to ensure
financial sustainability for BCSA?
BCSA’s management team appreciates the need
to remain fiscally responsible. In 2015, we closely
monitored building permit activities on a monthly basis
as a key driver of our own permitting activity and held
back certain spending decisions until our budget
expectations were being met. Due to strong economic
support and employee diligence, we achieved revenues
of $51,887,511 which was 9.9% above budget.
This strong revenue performance allowed us to advance
certain investments in support of our 10-Year Strategy.
As a result of this additional investment, our expenses
came in 7.1% over budget. The net result was an excess
of revenues over expenses of $1,874,023, which was
$1,374,023 above budget. This strong overall result,
combined with lower capital expenditures, allowed
us to replenish our operational reserve by $2,684,873,
returning it to a level above the minimum target
of 15% of expenses.

How are you managing
organizational growth?
BCSA has identified opportunities in improving our
existing systems and internal processes to manage
financial, human and relationship capital. We have

invested in upgrades and enhancements to existing
systems to ensure their scalability and to improve
employee effectiveness. Specifically, enhancements
were made to our internal information system, called
STAR, in support of propane and operating permit
processes. We expanded the functionality of Starlite,
a mobile productivity solution aimed at improving data
collection as well as the flow of information to safety
officers. In addition, we are creating collaborative work
environments that allow us to maximize our office
space. Our finance team is working closely with
our business development group to improve controls
in manual processing and to standardize processes
for non-routine or new client transactions.

How are you working to enhance
data quality?
We put in place systems and processes to ensure data
is reliable, secure, accurate, relevant, and accessible.
Our data governance committee focused on consistency
in reporting of assessment information by working
on up-to-date contact information and the initial creation
of a data dictionary for common understanding of terms
throughout the organization. The data we collected
enabled us to better serve our clients by producing client
fact sheets and other reports using safety insights.
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MEASURING PERFORMANCE
As we reflect on the year, we take stock of the work we have accomplished and the work we have yet to do.
These tables show the organizational goals for 2015, and our results in achieving them.
Help clients make better safety decisions, bring more clients into the safety system and systematically
capture and share safety information from high-hazard “as-found” assessments and incident investigations:
Goal

Target

Result

Improving safety
knowledge through
standardized hazard
information documentation

For the period Q4-2015, sampled records reflect that
hazards are being rated using the technology hazard
maps and for hazards rated as medium (3) and high
(4 and 5), records reflect descriptions of the created
hazard and contributing factors.

In Q4-2015, we achieved:
96.8% rate of “created hazard descriptions” for sampled
as-found hazards rated 3, 4, or 5.
92% rate of “clear description” and 90.7% rate
of “consistent with hazard map” for sampled as-found
hazards rated 3, 4, or 5.
89.3% rate of “rating factors” and 78.5% rate of
“picture” for sampled as-found hazards rated 3, 4, or 5.

Creating the newly
designed incident
investigation program

By October 31, 2015, BCSA has completed design of
the program structure and the documentation of new
or revised procedures. Incident investigation report
quality management standards are developed and a
small sample set of 10 investigation reports is rated.

By October 31, 2015, the program structure was
developed. New incident investigation reporting
templates were shared with regional teams and training
was completed. Quality attributes were developed with
a sample set of 10 being rated.

Expanding the reach
of client education and
sharing knowledge on
found hazards and incident
investigation outcomes

By December 31, 2015, BCSA has shared 12
different safety insights related to “as-found”
conditions or incident investigation findings
in our education or communication vehicles.

Nineteen different safety insights were shared through
education and communication vehicles in 2015.

For 2015, the total number of clients participating
in education events (e.g., tech talks, client
breakfast and learns, online courses and forums,
and conferences) and receiving e-newsletters
is 20% greater than in 2014.
For 2015, the average client rating of education
events (e.g., tech talks, client breakfasts and learns,
online courses and forums, and conferences)
is 4.0 (“Very Good”) out of 5.0 (“Excellent”)

Over 2,500 clients participated in 84 client education
events, including tech talks, breakfast and learns,
online courses, forums, and conferences. The total
number of clients participating has increased 56%
in 2015. Over 12,000 clients received newsletters
from BCSA, surpassing the target by over 277%.
Client Education has received an average rating
of 4.35 on overall satisfaction with the events.

Connecting clients to their
own safety knowledge

By December 31, 2015, BCSA has a documented
process and a report template for creating reports
detailing permit, declaration and physical inspection
history, including high hazard data, if any, for asset
owners, and electrical and gas contractors.

Fact sheets were created for four pilot clients across
electrical, elevating, gas, and boiler technologies.
Pilot clients included two asset owners in public service,
and two well-established contractors. Feedback from
all clients has been very positive.

Attaching more clients
to the safety system

By December 31, 2015, BCSA has identified twice
as many installations where electrical and gas
contractor installation permits should have been
issued compared to 2014.

We actively pursued unpermitted work in the
gas and electrical technologies within all regions.
BCSA identified 1,550 unpermitted work sites,
bringing them into the safety system.
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MEASURING PERFORMANCE
Better support large asset owners to manage the safety of their equipment from installation to operation,
including liquefied natural gas (LNG industries):
Goal

Target

Result

Implementing alternatives
to individual equipment
permitting for large
asset owners

By December 31, 2015, create and document a safety
oversight approach for large, multi-phase installation
(construction) projects.

Project report was submitted and new service
model outlines were developed.

Supporting our employees
in leading and delivering
integrated and innovative
safety services

Clarify employee roles with multi-technology accountability
in support of safety solutions for large clients and with
complex technical systems.

By December 31, 2015, build and implement the alternative
solution for propane clients to bring dispenser and storage
vessels into the safety system.

The Propane Safety Directive was issued
in June 2015 with a compliance period
of February 2016.
This tactic was deferred as a result
of reprioritization.

Expand the client online experience to better connect clients to safety – quicker transactions, more service
delivery options, safety knowledge and access to personalized safety information:
Goal

Target

Result

Delivering client value
through our different
transactional channels

By December 31, 2015, client transactions are more
electronic and less paper-based as compared to 2014 as
follows:

41% of all correspondence was emailed rather
than mailed to clients.

20% reduction in the total number of contractor electrical
and gas installation permits and corresponding work
declarations (requests for assessment) submitted by fax or
paper format.

Electrical and gas installation permits made up
54% of the electronic work BCSA received in
2015.

25% of the combined total of all electrical and gas
installation permits and certificates of inspection issued by
BCSA are sent by email.
Validating the positive
benefits to clients and the
safety system of new client
portals and portal features

By end of Q1-2015, a first version (minimum viable product)
for a map view of permit locations is available to electrical
and gas contractors on MyConnection.

The feature “Permit Quick Links” was
implemented for users of MyConnection
and received positive feedback from clients.

By end of Q2-2015, a first version (minimum viable product)
of a client mobile app is available to targeted clients.

The features “Permit Search” and “Declarations
for Electrical Installation Permits” were deployed
for mobile devices
to a test set of users.

By end of Q3-2015, a first version (minimum viable product)
of a portal for asset owners with operating permits is
available to targeted clients.

Measuring client satisfaction
with BCSA

Functionality to enable viewing of operating
permits and invoices was deployed to test
groups of asset owners and next steps involving
scalability are being examined.

An average of at least 87% of respondents rate BCSA’s
overall performance as “Good”, “Very Good” or “Excellent”.

90% of respondents rated BCSA’s overall
performance as “Good”, “Very Good”
or “Excellent.”

An average of at least 85% of respondents rate their recent
experience with BCSA as “Good”, “Very Good” or
“Excellent”.

88% of respondents rated their most recent
experience with BCSA as “Good”, “Very Good”
or “Excellent.”

For 2015, client survey results are as follows:
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MEASURING PERFORMANCE
Properly manage our balance sheet and implement systems that improve our internal operations:
Goal

Target

Result

Contribution Margin
[Revenue – Direct costs (as
adjusted) ] / Revenue

37.5% (after deferral)

Contribution margin of 39.9%

Overhead Ratio [Total costs
– Direct costs (as adjusted) ]
/ Revenue

36.5% (after deferral)

Overhead ratio of 36.2%

Strengthening our Operating
Reserve

Audited 2015 Operating Reserve is a minimum
of $790,000 greater than the operating reserve
balance shown in the 2014 Statement of
Financial Position.

Operating reserve exceeded target by 27.6%.

Effectiveness of our Human
Resources Management
System (HRMS) in executing
payroll accountabilities

By December 31, 2015, all identified high risk
deficiencies associated with Phase 1 of HRMS
have either been resolved or are the subject of
a control plan (as identified during Internal
Audit on the Operating Effectiveness and
Adequacy of Controls).

Major issues were resolved. Matters surrounding report
documentation and resolutions completed and reviewed by
the Internal Audit Team were accepted by the Governance
and Human Resources Committee.

Ensuring that the right
employees are on board at
the right times to support the
10-Year Strategy

By December 31, 2015, Phase 2 of HRMS
is implemented, allowing for the capture
of capability requirements and employee
skill sets.

The Recruitment module went live. Employees were trained
and no further issues identified. The Performance
Management module is under review for ease of use,
adaptability, and functionality.
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Corporate
Governance
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Corporate

Governance
Governance

Basic qualifications

The Safety Authority Act created BC Safety Authority
(BCSA) and contains the basic rules by which BCSA
is governed. The Act is supplemented by a Board
Governance Manual, an Administrative Agreement
with the Province of BC, and a Protocol Agreement.

Members of BCSA’s Board must meet the basic
requirements established in the Safety Authority Act.
As well, all appointments to BCSA’s Board must comply
with the provisions related to qualifications for directors
and conflicts contained in both the Safety Authority Act
and in BCSA’s Code of Ethical Conduct.

The role of the Board
The members of the Board of Directors are the
stewards of BCSA. They have the fiduciary responsibility
of overseeing the conduct of the business and ensuring
that all major issues affecting the business and affairs
of the organization are given proper consideration.
In performing its functions, the Board also considers
the legitimate interests of industry, communities
and government.

Director selection
The Safety Authority Act provides that the Board
will consist of at least nine, but not more than 15,
members. The minister responsible may appoint up
to three directors. The remaining directors are appointed
by the sitting directors. Non-government candidates
for the Board are screened and short-listed by
a nominating committee based on the knowledge,
skills and abilities of the candidates. The directors
make final selections from a list of suitable candidates
provided by the nominating committee.
Presently, the Board consists of 11 members, three
of whom were appointed by the Minister.
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Governance
Committees of the Board

•	Reviewed and approved the internal auditor’s annual
audit plan and reviewed regular reports by internal
auditors on the audits performed while monitoring
management’s responses.
•	Reviewed and approved the 2015-2016 insurance
coverage and renewal.
•	Reviewed and approved fee setting for 2015-2017.
•	Reviewed and approved a new Allowance
for Doubtful Accounts policy.
•	Reviewed BCSA’s investment portfolio and
reserve requirements.
•	Reviewed directors’ fees and expenses for 2014.
•	Reviewed and recommended performance plan for
the Internal Auditor and evaluated the performance
of the Internal Auditor.

The 2015 committee structure included the:
• Finance and Audit Committee
• Governance and Human Resources Committee1
• Strategic Advisory Committee
Each committee operates according to a Board-approved
mandate outlining its duties and responsibilities. When
required, these committees make recommendations
to the Board for approval.
The Finance and Audit Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating
to BCSA’s financial reporting, accounting systems,
budgets, internal controls, and audit process, as well
as the adequacy of its data governance and information
security framework. The Chair of the Finance and Audit
Committee is required to be a financial expert.
The Chair must:
1) understand accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations;
2) be experienced in preparing or auditing financial
statements of comparable companies;
3) have experience accounting for estimates, accruals,
and reserves;
4) understand internal accounting controls; and
5) understand the functions of an audit committee.

The Governance and Human Resources Committee
assists the Board in oversight responsibilities relating
to BCSA’s governance, compensation and human
resource policies and strategies. This committee also
serves as the nominating committee.
Over the past year, the Governance and Human
Resources Committee, in accordance with its mandate,
accomplished the following:
•	Acting as the nominating committee: recommended
to the Board the reappointment of two directors,
as well as the appointment of one new candidate
to replace an outgoing Board member.
•	Provided oversight to the Board orientation process.
•	Approved the audited corporate results for the 2014
variable incentive plan (for excluded employees).
•	Engaged with members of BCSA’s Advisory Panel
of Stakeholders.
•	Reviewed the annual conflict of interest declarations
of directors and officers.
•	Conducted the annual review of BCSA’s governance
practices and made recommendations to the Board
for enhancements to the committee mandates and
governance structure.

 ver the past year, the Finance and Audit Committee, in
O
accordance with its mandate, accomplished the following:
•	Provided oversight to management’s financial risk
management policies and procedures.
•	Provided oversight to management’s internal financial
controls framework.
•	Selected and recommended new external auditors to
the Board and reviewed and approved the audit plan.
•	Reviewed, with management, the external auditor’s
financial statements, notes to financial statements and
Management Discussion and Analysis prior to publication.
1
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Governance
•	Reviewed and recommended performance plans
for the President and Chief Executive Officer and
Corporate Secretary and evaluated the performance
of the President and Chief Executive Officer and
Corporate Secretary.
•	Successfully implemented a process for paperless
board and committee packages.
•	Reviewed and recommended Management’s Report
and Internal Audit findings to the Board of the
successful implementation of the Human Resources
Management System (HRMS) Report.
The Strategic Advisory Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in the
areas of strategic planning, business planning, regulatory
review and change, and enterprise risk management.
Over the past year, the Strategic Advisory Committee,
in accordance with its mandate, accomplished the following:

Advisory panel of stakeholders
In addition to the committees of the Board, BCSA
has established an Advisory Panel of Stakeholders.
This Panel consists of 12-15 members who provide
advice or recommendations to the BCSA Board
and the Chief Executive Officer on topical strategic
issues and proposed policies and strategies. In 2015,
two meetings of the Panel were held and the following
topics were discussed:
•	Significant issues potentially faced by new-to-BC
workers regarding personal safety or required safety
standards and how to improve safety;
•	Reflections on how BCSA can support technical
equipment and systems’ adaptation to climatic
variability and extreme weather events.

• Directed the annual strategic planning process.
•	Provided oversight to management’s enterprise risk
management framework, policies and procedures.
•	Provided oversight on the development of the 2016
-2018 Business Plan.
•	Reviewed and recommended board approval
of the 2014 State of Safety Report.
•	Reviewed regular reports by internal auditors related
to operational and regulatory matters on the audits
performed and monitored management’s responses.
•	Reviewed the corporate IT strategy and development
of a roadmap that reflects progress and changes
in priorities and capacities.
•	Reviewed regulatory change plans and
recommendations for amendment of legislation
to the Province of British Columbia to update
reference standards, improve the safety system,
and evolve the governing legislation and regulations
in accordance with BCSA’s 10-Year Strategy.
•	Engaged with Technical Advisory Committee members.
•	Received reports on technical risk registries
and operational activities including education
and enforcement.
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Director attendance

Directors’ compensation

Board and committee meetings are set two years
in advance to optimize director attendance. Members
of the executive team are invited to attend all Board
meetings and may also attend the various committee
meetings. Non-attendance at Board and Board
committee meetings is expected to be rare.

The Governance and Human Resources Committee
is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board respecting director compensation. Current
compensation is based on director compensation
in comparable organizations as determined through
a benchmarking exercise undertaken in 2015.

New Board and committee appointments are generally
effective on March 31 each year. In 2015, there were
four regularly scheduled Board meetings, a two-day
strategic planning session and one special Board
meeting. The following table illustrates the number
of meetings each director attended as compared
to the number of meetings the particular director
was eligible to attend during the 12 months that ended
December 31, 2015. In addition, some directors also
attended the Annual Public Meeting, the Lieutenant
Governor Safety Awards event, a Tech Talk, a meeting
with the Advisory Panel of Stakeholders and Technical
Advisory Committee members, and ride-alongs with
BCSA safety officers.

Director compensation is set at such a level so as to:
•	affirm the directors’ responsibilities and the
professional nature of the work that directors
are expected to perform;
•	attract and retain qualified individuals to serve
as directors;
•	partially compensate directors for their time and lost
opportunity costs and be seen as “value received”
for value given;
•	recognize the different levels of time and
responsibility associated with the Board Chair,
Committee Chair and director positions; and
•	recognize an element of public service.

Directors’ Attendance

Directors

Board Meetings
(7 meetings)

Finance & Audit
Committee
(4 meetings)

Governance & Human
Resources Committee
(8 meetings)

Strategic Advisory
Committee
(4 meetings)

Total

Richard Ballantyne

7/7

4/4

7/8

4/4

22/23

George Abbott

7/7

-

8/8

-

15/15

Ian Banks

7/7

4/4

-

4/4

15/15

Karen Bazylewski

6/6

-

-

3/3

9/9

Hoss Budde

7/7

4/4

6/6

2/2

19/19

Brenda Eaton

7/7

-

-

4/4

11/11

Hugh Gordon

7/7

4/4

-

-

11/11

Geordie Henderson

7/7

-

7/8

3/4

17/19

2

2
3

Steve Lornie

7/7

4/4

2/2

2/2

15/15

Dan Mott3

-

1/1

5/5

-

6/6

Alison Narod

7/7

-

7/8

4/4

18/19

Jo-Ann Panneton

7/7

2/2

8/8

2/2

19/19

Appointed to the Board on April 10, 2015.
Retired from the Board on March 31, 2015.
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Directors’ Compensation
The following table shows director compensation as of April 1, 2015
as compared to April 1, 2014:

Fee

2015

2014

Annual Retainer
– Chair

$42,200

$41,500

Annual Retainer
– Committee Chair

$17,900

$17,600

Annual Retainer
– Directors

$12,700

$12,400

Board/Committee
Meetings fee

$790

$775

Maximum Daily
Meeting Fee

$1,185

$1,165

Teleconference of
less than one hour

$395

$390

Directors’ Retainer and Meeting Fees for 2015
The following table reflects the total retainers and meeting fees that were earned by directors in 2015 as compared to 2014.

Directors

Retainer

Meeting Fees

Total Retainer/Fees
2015

Total Retainer/Fees
2014

Richard Ballantyne (Board Chair)

$42,025

$19,655

$61,680

$49,750

George Abbott (Committee Chair)

$17,825

$12,175

$30,000

$26,675

Ian Banks

$12,625

$13,005

$25,630

$25,100

Karen Bazylewski

$9,525

$9,875

$19,400

n/a

Hoss Budde

$12,625

$15,720

$28,345

$23,945

Brenda Eaton (Committee Chair)

$17,825

$10,250

$28,075

$25,920

Hugh Gordon (Committee Chair)

$17,825

$8,670

$26,495

$26,420

Geordie Henderson

$12,625

$13,380

$26,005

$25,100

Steve Lornie

$12,625

$13,005

$25,630

$24,335

Dan Mott

4

$3,100

$4,265

$7,365

$21,620

Alison Narod

$12,625

$15,330

$27,955

$23,560

Jo-Ann Panneton

$12,625

$15,720

$28,345

$24,710

Totals:

$183,875

$151,050

$334,925

$323,1006

5

Appointed to the Board on April 10, 2015.
Retired from the Board on March 31, 2015.
6
This figure includes total Retainer/Fees in the amount of $25,965 for Retired Board members Peter Cook ($14,000), Dan Miller ($6,620) and Janet Pau ($5,345)
up to and including March 31, 2014.
4
5
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Executive compensation
BCSA is a progressive employer with a 10-Year Strategy
that will move us towards our vision of Safe technical
systems. Everywhere. The objectives of BCSA’s
executive compensation plan are to:
•	attract and retain capable individuals with diverse
skill sets;
•	achieve alignment of our priorities and efforts
to our 10-Year Strategy and 3-Year Business Plan;
•	offer a total rewards package that balances stable
elements of compensation with pay at risk;
•	demonstrate sensitivity to our stakeholder
communities; and
•	remain internally fair and externally competitive.
To meet the objectives outlined above, BCSA’s executive
compensation plan elements are:
•	Base salary: bcsa establishes salary ranges
according to a blended market position that is midway
between the public not-for-profit sector and the
private sector markets. The range spans from 80
to 120 percent of the blended market median.
Placement within the salary range depends on the
competence, experience, and level of contribution
to the business plan and strategy.

•	Variable incentive plan: this element is the at-risk
portion7 of annual compensation and is dependent
on the achievement of critical corporate and individual
objectives aligned to our 10-Year Strategy. It is also
intended to reinforce our value of accountability at the
leadership level in the organization.
		Annual incentive awards are determined on a
discretionary basis dependent on the achievement
of strategic objectives that are established annually
by the Board of Directors. Corporate performance
is assessed by management and audited by Internal
Audit. The Board of Directors assesses the performance
of the president and chief executive officer and the
corporate secretary annually.
		The president and chief executive officer assesses
the performance of the remaining executive
team members.
•	Pension plan: bcsa supports a pension plan
that will contribute to employees’ financial well-being
in their retirement years.
•	Health and wellness benefits: a mix of extended
health, dental, and income protection benefits are
offered to support the health of employees.
•	Car allowance: a monthly car allowance is provided
to account for business travel using personal vehicles.

7
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Executive Compensation - 2015
Name and
Principal Position
Catherine Roome,
President and CEO

Salary (A)

Incentive Plan
Compensation
Paid (B)

Pension
(C)

Health and
Wellness
Benefits (D)

All Other
Compensation
Paid (E)

Total (F)

$274,554.34

$76,051.33

$28,426.94

$10,995.00

$12,500.00

$402,527.61

2013 = $377,758.88
2014 = $378,665.81

$156,598.11

$28,598.36

$16,305.22

$9,147.00

$8,750.00

$219,398.69

2013 = $197,429.16
2014 = $204,293.07

$174,756.96

$31,913.32

$18,296.98

$7,789.56

$8,750.00

$241,506.82

2013 = $234,121.97
2014 = $228,501.96

$83,591.20

$26,077.41

$8,323.71

$3,204.95

$10,410.42

$131,607.69

2013 = $183,015.29
2014 = $185, 035.01

$45,995.88

$0

$4,337.40

$1,693.44

$22,100.00

$74,126.72

n/a

$177,961.30

$32,110.48

$18,647.22

$6,292.44

$8,750.00

$243,761.44

2013 = $217,644.17
2014 = $224,793.43

$192,798.66

$6,488.27

$20,268.83

$9,881.52

$8,750.00

$238,187.28

2014 = $42,300.95

Previous 2 Years
Totals

Sue Gagne
VP, Human
Resources and
Engagement
Phil Gothe
VP, Technical
Programs
Shelley Milne8
VP, Legal and
Policy & Corporate
Secretary
Derek Patterson9
VP, Legal and Policy
& Corporate
Secretary
Brian Rowland
VP, Operations and
Service Excellence
Brian Simmers
VP Corporate
Services & CFO

(A) Salary earned
(B) Variable Incentive Pay
(C) Pension
(D) MSP Premiums, Extended Health Care, Dental, Group Life, Long Term Disability, Short Term Disability, Accidental Death and Dismemberment
(E) Car Allowance, Signing Bonus, and Vacation Payout
(F) Total compensation reflects the inclusion of one extra pay period in 2015 (27 pays in 2015 versus 26 pays in previous years).
8
9

Based on a 4-day work week; Retired from BCSA on June 25, 2015.
Commenced employment with BCSA on October 7, 2015.
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BC Safety Authority Board (L-R): Alison Narod, Steve Lornie, Hugh Gordon, Richard
Ballantyne (Chair), Geordie Henderson, George Abbott (seated), Karen Bazylewski,
Ian Banks, Jo-Ann Panneton (seated), Brenda Eaton, Hoss Budde (seated).

Richard Ballantyne

George Abbott

Chair of the Board
Salt Spring Island, BC
Director since: April 1, 2008
Chair since: April 1, 2014
Latest Date for Retirement: April 1, 2019
Appointed by: Board
Ex-officio, Finance and Audit Committee
Ex-officio, Strategic Advisory Committee
Ex-officio, Governance and Human Resources Committee

Victoria, BC
Director since: January 6, 2014
Latest Date for Retirement: January 6, 2020
Appointed by: Board
Chair, Governance and Human Resources Committee
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Ian Banks

Geordie Henderson

North Vancouver, BC
Director since: January 6, 2014
Latest Date for Retirement: January 6, 2020
Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee

Vancouver, BC
Director since: January 6, 2014
Latest Date for Retirement: January 6, 2020
Appointed by: Board
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee

Karen Bazylewski

Steve Lornie

Coquitlam, BC
Director since: April 10, 2015
Latest Date for Retirement: April 10, 2021
Appointed by: Board
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee

North Vancouver, BC
Director since: March 31, 2010
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2016
Appointed by: Minister
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee

Hoss Budde
Burnaby, BC
Director since: March 31, 2010
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2016
Appointed by: Minister
Member, Governance and Human Resources
Committee
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee

Dan Mott
New Westminster, BC
Director since: April 1, 2009
Retired: March 31, 2015
Appointed by: Board
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee

Brenda Eaton

Alison Narod

Victoria, BC
Director since: January 6, 2014
Latest Date for Retirement: January 6, 2020
Appointed by: Board
Chair, Strategic Advisory Committee

Vancouver, BC
Director since: March 31, 2012
Latest Date for Retirement: March 31, 2018
Appointed by: Board
Member, Governance and Human Resources
Committee
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee

Hugh Gordon
Victoria, BC
Director since: March 29, 2012
Latest Date for Retirement: March 29, 2018
Appointed by: Board
Chair, Finance and Audit Committee

Jo-Ann Panneton
Vancouver, BC
Director since: December 6, 2011
Latest Date for Retirement: December 6, 2017
Appointed by: Minister
Member, Strategic Advisory Committee
Member, Finance and Audit Committee
Member, Governance and Human Resources Committee
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Catherine Roome
President and Chief Executive Officer
Catherine believes that people have an extraordinary ability to bring a shared vision into reality.
Becoming President and Chief Executive Officer in 2011, she applies her broad organizational
experience, particularly her acumen for risk management, into steering BC Safety Authority
towards its vision of Safe technical systems. Everywhere.
As a creative and principled leader, Catherine values the power of engaging people for a common
purpose. She encourages her team to bring their unique potential to building networks that connect all those who use or
operate technical equipment in order to share knowledge and expertise to advance safety. A professional engineer, and
recipient of several business and leadership awards, Catherine received her degree
in electrical engineering from the University of Victoria.

Sue Gagné
Vice President, Human Resources and Engagement
Sue is a passionate leader who believes that opportunities for learning and growth are available
every day. Since joining BC Safety Authority in 2009 and as Vice President for Human Resources
and Engagement, Sue has leveraged her expertise in human resources and communications
to strengthen connections between BC Safety Authority and its employees. She advocates
a corporate culture of accountability, leadership, and openness in order to build confidence
in the safety system and promote higher levels of personal and professional success. Prior
to joining BC Safety Authority, Sue worked for several companies in the learning, talent management, leadership,
and change management areas. Sue holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of Waterloo and a Master
of Arts degree in Industrial and Organizational Development Psychology from the University of Guelph.

Phil Gothe
Vice President, Technical Programs
As Vice President, Technical Programs, Phil leads a team of technical specialists who
are keenly focused on advancing the understanding and management of safety risks.
With profound regard for the knowledge and capability of clients and employees, he firmly
believes that the development of a system of duty holders is vital to building and maintaining
confidence in the safety system. He is inspired by continuous development and lifelong learning,
and believes deeply in people’s capacity to improve and achieve results. Before joining BC
Safety Authority in 2009, Phil spent 10 years leading business strategy development and continuous improvement
consulting engagements in forest products, helicopter and heavy equipment industries. His career started in naval
operations in the Royal Canadian Navy after graduating from the Collège Militaire Royal de Saint-Jean. Phil received
his MBA from the University of Western Ontario, and a Chartered Director designation from The Directors College.

28 | British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2015

Derek Patterson
Vice President, Legal and Policy & Corporate Secretary
Derek believes that to achieve superior organizational performance, it is necessary
to foster a respectful and collaborative work environment. His thoughtful, well-considered
approach encourages people to work together and inspires them to focus their diverse talents
and knowledge to overcome operational barriers and meet strategic imperatives. Derek
finds that participating in the successes and accomplishments of a team is his greatest
professional reward.
Derek is a principled, deeply respectful leader whose risk experience and legal expertise bring valuable strength
to BCSA’s executive team. He is highly experienced in the practice of regulatory law and change management,
having served as chief legal, risk and compliance advisor and corporate secretary to senior leadership teams
and Boards of both public companies and Crown corporations.
Prior to joining BCSA, Derek held senior positions with a number of organizations, including the Insurance
Corporation of BC and the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada. Derek holds a law degree
from Osgoode Hall Law School and an MBA from the Schulich School of Business at York University, as well
as ICD.D and CHRP designations. He is called to the bar in both Ontario and British Columbia.

Brian Rowland
Vice President, Operations and Service Excellence
As a life-long learner, Brian believes that education and knowledge have a profound and positive
impact on our society. He is committed to providing BC Safety Authority clients with the right
knowledge of technical systems safety risks and the insight to mitigate these risks. His teams
of client-facing professionals continually create ways to share their expertise to help clients
solve complex business problems and find real value in a strong safety system. Brian has built
a career in the private sector in senior operational and delivery roles, and as a service strategy
consultant. He holds a Bachelor of Science in Management Information Systems degree from Penn State University
and a Master of Science in Marketing from the John Molson School of Business at Concordia University. Brian is
Chair of the Board of Directors for DanceHouse, a Vancouver-based arts organization.

Brian Simmers
Chief Financial Officer and Vice President, Corporate Services
Brian believes in a client-focused approach to business operations that integrates all areas
of the organization. He uses his passion, natural curiosity and focus to drive organizational
growth. As Vice President, Corporate Services and CFO, Brian leads a diverse team of financial
and knowledge-based specialists all working towards a common goal of enhanced sustainability
and technological excellence. He recognizes that innovation arises from an inclusive,
interdisciplinary approach which draws on the knowledge and skills of multiple teams
and individuals. As a technology executive with over 15 years of operational and financial experience in the
telecommunication and mobile application sectors, Brian brings proven expertise in finance, operations, technology,
sales and marketing to his role at BC Safety Authority. Brian articled with KPMG LLP and is professionally qualified
as a Chartered Professional Accountant in Canada and as a Certified Public Accountant in the United States.
He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from Simon Fraser University.

Full biographical information on each of BCSA’s Board and Executive team members is available on our website:
www.safetyauthority.ca/about
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DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial stability is essential to BCSA’s ability to deliver
safety services that enhance the province’s safety system.
Strong financial stewardship of our assets and operations
enables us to continue working to achieve our vision
of Safe technical systems. Everywhere.
This report discusses the financial and operating
results for BCSA for the year ended December 31, 2015
and should be read in conjunction with the audited
financial statements. This summary provides additional
information on key elements of the Annual Report
and Audited Financial Statements.

Results
Table 1 highlights key financial performance indicators.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, our excess
of revenue over expenditures was $1,874,000, which
was $1,386,000 or 384% higher than 2014.

We had expected to see small growth due to our
approved 3% fee increase tempered by continued
economic predictions of a slow growth economy in 2015;
however, by year end, revenues exceeded 2014 results
by 11.3%. This significant increase was primarily due
to continued efforts to bring unpermitted work into the
safety system, higher average permit values and higher
permit volumes in general. The higher permit values
and volumes were related to a stronger than expected
BC economy in 2015.
Compared to 2014, overall transaction volumes increased
by 12.6%. This increase is mainly due to the increase
in installation permits and design registrations as we
experienced an overall average permit value rise from
$205.58 to $214.94.

Table 1
Key Financial Performance Indicators 2015 and 2014
Key Financial Performance Indicator

2015

2014

Total Revenue

$51,887,511

$46,619,849

$51,472,509

$46,105,158

Services and related fees (before deferral)11

$52,226,575

$46,524,797

Volumes (before deferral)

242,982

226,309

Average Fee (before deferral)

$215

$206

Operating Expenditures

$50,013,488

$46,131,925

Services and related fees (after deferral)

10

Salaries and Benefits

$34,011,125

$31,408,513

Excess/(Deficiency) of Revenue over Expenditures

$1,874,023

$487,924

Contribution Margin

39.9%

38.4%

Overhead Ratio

36.2%

37.3%

Full Time Equivalent employees (FTE's)

312.3

297.3

Capital Budget Spend

$2,694,615

$2,569,048

10

 ervices and related fees (after deferral) represents revenue recognized for the period. Revenue is recognized either by straight line over the expected life
S
of the permit or licence, or as services are performed and therefore the unperformed portion is deferred to a future period.

11

Services and related fees (before deferral) represents revenue billed for the period and is unadjusted for unrecognized revenue referenced in 10 above.
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There was significant growth in all regions of BC.
Particularly, the Lower Mainland North region reported
the greatest revenue increase over 2014 with
a $2.3 million, or 15% increase. Graph 1 shows
total revenue by region for 2015 and 2014.
Higher-than-predicted revenues allowed BCSA the
opportunity to accelerate several projects in 2015.
Operating expenses, at $50 million, exceeded 2014
by 8.4%, or $3.9 million, which was used to support
our 10-Year Strategy. We invested in IT system
enhancements and corporate services, along with
changes to our IT department. These changes will
contribute to the achievement of our long-term
objectives and positively impact BC’s safety system.
They will also provide greater value for clients
and stakeholders by improving BCSA’s overall ability
to collect and share safety information and develop
and implement technology solutions.
Specifically, we invested in: the implementation
of our Human Resource Management System (HRMS)
responsible for payroll; increased IT infrastructure,
data management and recovery; enhancements
to our MyConnection portal, and the development

and implementation of mobile productivity tools for our
safety officers, including an information management
application for iPads called “Starlite”. Expenditures
included a combination of 1) severances to support
a new corporate service / IT structure; 2) signing
bonuses and retroactive pay related to the new
collective bargaining agreement; 3) transaction fees
on our MyConnection portal due to higher transaction
volumes; and 4) higher full-time equivalent (FTE)
employee numbers compared to the prior year.

Total revenue
BCSA is a self-funded organization and receives no
financial support from the Province. Revenue generated
through the normal course of business goes back into
the delivery and improvement of services and towards
improving the safety system in British Columbia. A fee
consultation at BCSA was held in 2014 for the following
technologies: electrical, boilers, gas, and elevating
devices. The consultation resulted in a 3% annual fee
increase in the aforementioned technologies for 2015
through to 2017.
BCSA’s financial performance is influenced by the
overall health of the construction industry in our
marketplace, with the exception of electrical and gas

Graph 1
Total Revenue by Region

Interior: Kamloops, Kelowna, Cranbrook,
Vernon, Nelson, Penticton
Lower Mainland North: Coquitlam,
New Westminster
Northern: Prince George, Fort St. John,
Quesnel, Dawson Creek, Williams Lake, Terrace
Vancouver Island: Campbell River, Courtenay,
Victoria, Nanaimo, Duncan
Lower Mainland South: Abbotsford, Langley,
Chilliwack
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permitting handled by several municipalities within
the lower mainland and Vancouver Island. Installation
permits are affected by housing starts, renovations,
and commercial and industrial construction activity.
In 2015, 52.5% of service fee revenue ($26.9 million)
came from installation permits, compared to 52%
($23.9 million) in 2014. Installation permit volumes
remained steady with a 10.3% increase over 2014’s
volume of 92,458. The overall transaction volume
of all permits was recorded at 242,982, which represented
a modest 7.4% increase over 2014. However, the 4.5%
average permit value increase contributed to the
$5.3 million increase in service fees and related fees
over 2014. This increase came from higher value work
by contractors which translated into higher average
permit values overall and ultimately, higher average
permit fees. Additionally, we saw more special project
revenue, which carries a higher average fee, as well
as changes to fee structures and transaction processes.
Our total service and related fee revenue after deferral
reached $51.5 million in 2015, which was 11.7% better
than the prior year’s $46.1 million. Services and related
fees represent approximately 99.2% of our revenue.
Investment income, monetary penalties, and other
income make up the remainder.

In 2015, the organization worked on identifying
and following up on unpermitted work to help level
the playing field and improve overall safety. Some
of these efforts related to the direct issuance of permits
while others were captured in the increase in the
number of permits issued as awareness of our efforts
expanded. The onboarding of 17 new safety officers
increased the number of overall inspections and helped
with unpermitted work initiatives. We estimate that these
efforts resulted directly in the issuance of over $800,000
in permits that would not have otherwise been issued.
Given the success of this program to elevate safety
outcomes, BCSA plans to continue its efforts in 2016
in this area.

Graph 2
Total Revenue 2010-2015

Graph 3
Revenue by Quarter 2015 and 2014

Graph 2 outlines our revenues over the past six years.
The growth in 2014 and 2015 is mainly attributed to fee
increases and favourable market conditions.
Graph 3 shows total revenue by quarter for 2015
versus 2014. The graph shows that there is seasonality
associated with BCSA’s revenue profile that is fairly
consistent year over year.
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Revenue and volume by technology 12
Service and related fee revenues flow from seven different
technology streams: electrical, boilers, pressure vessels
and refrigeration, gas, elevating devices, railways,
passenger ropeways, and amusement devices. We also
derive revenues under the Alternative Safety Approaches
(ASA) program, which allows clients to register certain
technical equipment and systems with us for special
assessment, such as boilers and pressure vessels,
or electrical systems. BCSA will then either assess the
equipment or systems under an Equivalent Standards
Approach (ESA) or audit the client’s own Safety
Management Plan (SMP) for evidence of compliance
with accepted safety standards.
Graph 4 shows the distribution of service fee revenue from
all sources. The majority of our revenues originated from
the electrical technology at over 40% of total revenue.

Graph 5 compares total revenues for 2015 with 2014
by technology area. The majority of our revenues
originated from electrical installation permits. The lines
on the graph represent the portion of revenue in each
technology attributable to installation permits, for 2014
and 2015. These lines show that revenue growth in 2015
for the electrical and gas technologies are mainly due
to installation permits: 11% in electrical and 17.7%
in gas. This is in line with and closely follows the 17.9%
increase of total building permit values for BC from
2014 to 2015.
Electrical technology
The electrical technology was the largest generator
of revenue among our regulated technologies and
accounted for $21 million (40.2%) of services and
related fees revenue in 2015, compared to $18.9 million
(40.6% of revenue) in 2014. The increase was mainly
driven by installation permit revenues. Volume for new

Graph 4

12

Numbers are as billed or monies received for services and do not reflect the impact of deferral. These volumes and revenue figures are when transactions occurred,
therefore amounts do not align exactly with the Financial Statements. Financial Statement revenue numbers are recorded when services are performed, or evenly
over the life of permits. Numbers have been rounded to the nearest $1,000.
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installation permits increased primarily due to an increase
in the number of residential installations and the average
permit value of commercial installations. The Lower
Mainland South and the Vancouver Island regions
had the highest installation revenue growth at 19.8%
and 16% respectively. Operating permit revenue also
increased by 16% ($215,900). Design registrations,
inspections, certification and licensing revenue remained
similar to 2014 levels.
Boilers, pressure vessels
and refrigeration technology
BCSA’s second largest revenue stream was from the
boilers, pressure vessels and refrigeration technology,
resulting in $10.4 million or 20% of total service fee
revenue in 2015, compared to 18% or $8.4 million
in 2014. This growth was driven by design registration
revenues which increased by $588,800 (61.2%) and
operating permit revenues, up by $1 million (19.3%).

Gas technology
The gas technology was our third largest revenue
stream, accounting for $9.6 million (18.3%) of 2015
service and related fees revenue. Installation permits
represented the highest growth over 2014 at 17.7%
($1.1 million) with residential permits accounting
for $775,000 (20.9% increase). All regions with the
exception of the Interior region received double digit
percentage growth over 2014. New installation permit
revenue showed an increase of $1.079 million over
2014, while equipment approval revenue increased
by $74,000 over 2014. Inspections, certification
and licensing revenue remained relatively flat from
2014 levels, with only a slight decrease in design
registration and examination activity.

Graph 5
Revenue by Technology 2015 and 2014
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Elevating devices technology

Amusement devices technology

The elevating devices technology experienced a revenue
increase of $790,000 (10.4%) in 2015, bringing total
revenue to $8.4 million and making it our fourth largest
source of revenue. Design registration increased
by $260,700 (48.1%), operating permits increased
by $255,000 (4.8%), and the largest dollar value
increase was in installation permits at $296,000 (19.4%).

The amusement devices technology represented
$352,000 (0.6%) of BCSA’s service and related fees
revenue in 2015 compared to $330,000 (0.6%) in 2014.
This increase is attributed to additional contractor
licensing and operating permits.

Railways technology
Revenues related to the railways technology decreased
slightly to $748,000 (1.4%) of total service and related fees
revenue in 2015 compared to $762,000 (1.6%) in 2014.
Passenger ropeways technology
In 2015, the passenger ropeways technology
represented $532,000 (1%) of BCSA’s service
and related fees revenue compared to $528,000
in 2014. Permit volumes have remained flat from 2014.

Graph 6

36 | British Columbia Safety Authority | Annual Report 2015

Please see graph 6 for the distribution of services
and related fee revenue in 2015.
Installation permits and operating permits were our
largest source of revenue, and activity in these areas
was consistently greater than 2014, contributing
to 52.9% and 27.9% of total revenue. As stated above,
the lift was primarily due to efforts to bring unpermitted
work into the safety system, higher average permit
values and higher permit volumes due to the strong
BC economy and real estate market. All other revenue
lines showed modest increases from 2014 levels, with
only a slight decrease in Alternative Safety Approach
(ASA) service fees.
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ASA service fee revenue was 6.7% lower than 2014,
ending the year at $1.1 million. This decline was
caused by a reduction in the number and scope
of active ASAs, one-time back charges that were billed
in 2013, consolidation within our client base, and disposal
of several pressure vessels. We continue to refine our
delivery model and marketing approach to the ASA
program and it remains a desirable regulatory alternative
for equipment owners who are looking for innovation
or consolidation solutions beyond prescriptive regulations.

Expenses
During 2015, the higher-than-predicted revenue
allowed BCSA to accelerate several projects, such
as enhancements to our IT systems and corporate
service restructuring. Until the revenue trend in 2015
became clear, management proceeded cautiously
with regards to operating expenses, and discretionary
expenditures were deferred where possible.
Graph 7 below shows the breakdown of our operating
expenses in 2015. Note that salaries and benefits
make up 68% of costs, which is virtually unchanged
from 68.1% in 2014.

Graph 7
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Graph 8 below shows a high level comparison
of expenses by key category. Significant changes
are discussed below.
Salaries and benefits
Salaries and benefits expenses increased by $2.6 million
(8.2%) to $34 million in 2015, in comparison with 2014.
The increase was due to signing bonuses and retroactive
pay associated with the new collective bargaining
agreement, severance payments to support department
restructuring, and 15 employees hired to support
the higher volume of business activity. The severance
payments were the main driver of the salary and benefits
increase in 2015, which was necessary in order
for BCSA to align our business with our long-term
business plans and client needs.

Building occupancy
Compared to 2014, building occupancy expenses
increased $124,353 (4.7%) to $2.8 million. The rent
increase is due to existing general rent increases
throughout the year based on occupancy commitments
made in 2012, and an office expansion in Squamish.
However, the increase is partially offset by the merging
of our Abbotsford and Langley offices.
General operating and administration
General operating and administration expenses
increased by $465,000 (10.5%) to $4.9 million in 2015.
One of the main factors in this increase from 2014
was due to the increase in credit card processing fees
as a result of our higher revenue and wider adoption
of our MyConnection online portal that only transacts
by credit card. Our contract services increased due
to the use of external consultants to provide BCSA with
the IT support required to move our IT projects ahead.
Finally, there was a year-end adjustment for the retirement
allowance based on estimates from our provider.

Graph 8
Operating Expense Comparison 2015 versus 2014
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Communications and information services
In 2015, communications and information services
expenses increased by $526,000 (27.3%) from 2014,
to $2.4 million. This represented additional IT costs
as a result of the rollout of our mobile productivity tool
for safety officers. In addition, we incurred higher outreach
and client education expenses related to the delivery
of educational events related to the adoption of the
new electrical code in BC and several other outreach
initiatives. BCSA organized 84 educational events
for clients in 2015 versus 59 in 2014.
Transportation
Transportation expenses increased by $26,000 to
$2 million in 2015, an 1.3% increase compared to 2014.
Vehicle operating costs increased due to installation
and repair costs associated with an Integrated Vehicle
Safety System (IVSS) to enhance employee safety. The
remainder of the cost increase was related to a higher level
of business activity which generated higher revenue,
and this was partially offset by lower insurance claims.
Corporate governance
Corporate governance expenses increased by $19,000
(5.1%) to $392,000 in 2015. This change was due to the
recruitment costs for a new director.
Capital spending
During 2015, BCSA invested $2.7 million in capital.
The major capital purchases were for new vehicles,
as part of our vehicle replacement plan, head office
renovations, and the opening of a new Langley office.
Reserves and unrestricted net assets
BCSA’s net assets comprise its investment in property,
equipment, and intangibles, as well as its operating
capital, and externally restricted (education) reserves.
Since 2011, the Board has targeted a reserve level
equal to 15% of the operating expenses for the following
year. BCSA has operated under this target reserve level
in the last two years due to deficits in 2012 and 2013,

but the positive earnings in 2014 increased our
operating reserves by $1.4 million to $6.07 million
or 13.6% of the projected 2015 operating expenses.
In 2015, the operating reserve increased to $8.8 million
or 17% of the projected 2016 operating expense.
The capital reserve is fed by the operating reserve
to fund long-term capital investment projects such as
the modernization of facilities and information technology
systems. The balance in any given year represents the
estimated capital expenditures in the following year.
As mentioned above, BCSA invested $2.7 million in new
capital outlays and has projected for $3 million for 2016.
The education reserve was established in accordance
with the Safety Standards Act to reserve monetary
penalties collected to pay for accident prevention
programs and safety education programs. In 2015,
we collected $40,310 from monetary penalties and spent
$170,862 on accident prevention and safety programs.
A total of 84 educational events were organized
by BCSA in 2015. The capital budget in 2016 will
be primarily spent on IT projects that will further support
our safety information systems and programs and move
us towards becoming an increasingly knowledge-based
organization. Table 2 below shows a comparison
of reserves and unrestricted net assets between
2015 and 2014.

Table 2
Reserves and Unrestricted Net Assets 2015 and 2014
Reserves and Unrestricted
Net Assets

2015

2014

Investment in PPE

$12,889,858

$13,710,829

Externally restricted

$40,310

$170,862

Capital reserve

$3,000,000

$2,800,000

Operating reserve

$8,757,240

$6,072,366

Total net asset

$24,687,407

$22,754,056
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Risk and uncertainty

Strategic risk

We are susceptible to risks that, if unmitigated,
could lead to significantly adverse financial
and operational consequences.

Strategic risk is the potential for loss or reputational
damage arising from business decisions, improper
implementation of business strategies or a lack
of responsiveness to changes in the business
environment. We manage this risk through periodic
long-term strategic planning processes, one of which
led to our 10-Year Strategy, which is available on our
website at http://10yearstrategy.safetyauthority.ca.
This plan was developed and finalized during
2011-2012, with input from clients, stakeholders,
employees, the Board, and government. Our strategic
objectives are further supported and refined by threeyear business plans developed annually, detailing
the measures and tactics being used to achieve our
strategic goals. These measures, and their findings,
are reviewed quarterly to confirm our strategy and
approach or to adjust tactics and plans as needed.

Our risk management function operates under
an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework
that includes regular annual reporting to the Strategic
Advisory Committee of the Board of Directors.
The ERM framework brings a consistent approach
to risk identification, quantification and control by taking
into account, for each risk event, the likelihood of the
event, its potential impact, and the speed of its onset.
We then plan risk mitigation processes for each event
which, when successfully applied, reduce the residual
risk to the minimum likelihood and impact. The internal
audit department, which reports regularly to the Finance
and Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, then
carries out operational and control audits to identify
areas of risk that require more attention. They also test
for compliance with agreed upon mitigation processes.
We continuously improve our risk management
system and processes. We dedicate a significant level
of competency and capacity to establishing and managing
complex risk systems that identify technical areas
and strategies in need of attention. As we proceed
into 2016 and beyond, we will continue to improve
the way we manage risk.
Our risk management program focuses on risks
which include the following:
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Organizational risk and human capital
We are exposed to risks resulting from changing
demographics that may prevent us from retaining
employees essential to meeting our business objectives.
To counter this, the organization develops and updates
succession plans and expectations for the requisite
employee complement. Our personal performance
review and management process further ensures
that individual performance goals align with our overall
strategic goals and the objectives stated in our business
plans. We conduct formal new employee orientation
sessions, and have an adaptable, business-driven
technical and professional training plan. We have
developed several programs to attract and retain
talent, in alignment with our 10-Year Strategy.
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Organizational risk and reputation

Financial risk and revenue

Organizational risk encompasses the potential concern
that stakeholder perceptions of an organization’s
business practices, actions or inactions may result
in a decline in the organization’s reputation, client
base, or capacity to regulate effectively. Responsibility
for managing reputational risk rests mainly with the
executive team, the stakeholder engagement team,
and the communications team. BCSA takes steps
to ensure that every employee understands their
responsibility to contribute in a positive way to our
reputation and support our core organizational values
of simplicity, authenticity and accountability. We devote
considerable management attention to attracting
employees with qualities and attributes of character
that reflect well on our integrity, honesty and fairness.
As well, our communications team works diligently
to distribute accurate, timely information both internally
and externally. In quarterly Town Hall meetings with
all employees and their leaders, the executive provides
information to guide the organization strategically and
keep employees focused on high standards of conduct.
To support this, BCSA has two whistle-blowing services
(one internal and one external), which empower
employees and the public to anonymously report
possible misdoings. Our annual personal performance
review plans also reference obligations at all levels
of individual development that support a strong reputation.

Financial risk includes concerns about threats to revenue
and the possibility that prime sources of income could
shrink. National economies continue to face the
challenges arising from the oil and gas price collapse
of 2015. The threat of sudden and significant
deterioration in both the global and national economy
remains a concern to both consumers and industry.
Economic fluctuations have a significant impact
on new installation permitting activity. We earn our
revenue through permitting activities. In an economic
decline, developers often substitute larger projects
for smaller ones resulting in lower permitting revenues.
While permitting activity may remain relatively unchanged,
the average revenue per permit may decrease.
We mitigate the impact of lost revenue due to a reduction
in permitting activities through cost reduction measures
and reserve funds, and when possible, by the use
of unrestricted assets. We will also continue our efforts
to ensure all work is appropriately permitted.

Operational risk
As a regulator, we are faced with risks associated with
the quality of our services and effective administration
of both the Safety Standards Act and the Railway Safety
Act. Continuous training of our employees; risk-based
resource allocation processes; strong governance
practices; and the establishment and auditing of standards,
policies and procedures are just some of the practices
that enable BCSA to reduce operational risk.

Financial risk and investments
Financial risk is mitigated through our financial
investments, capital reserves, and our liquidity. Liquid
assets amount to 71% of the total assets on our balance
sheet. A conservative portfolio of our financial investments
is managed by our investment advisors and is invested
in fixed income and Canadian dividend producing
equities. The funds are invested in accordance with
BCSA’s investment policy. For 2015, our operating
reserves were 17% of total operating expenses, which
were greater than 2015 (13%). In 2016, we project our
operating reserves will remain above the 15% target.
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Compliance risk

Outlook

Like any other organization, BCSA must comply with
legislation and regulation, particularly the Safety Authority
Act under which BCSA was established, the Income
Tax Act, and the terms of BCSA’s Administrative
Agreement with the Province. Despite being constituted
as an organization independent of government,
we remain subject to the requirements of the Freedom
of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. We are
also obligated to comply with the Payment Card Industry
Data Security Standards regulations since we accept
credit card payments. As with any other organization
in the province, BCSA must adhere to WorkSafeBC
Occupational Health and Safety Regulations. Our
enterprise risk register acknowledges some of these
concerns and through diligent implementation of structures
of management and governance we strive to avoid
possible non-compliant activity.

Looking ahead with cautious optimism

External risk
External risk comprises cyclical and structural change
in the industries we oversee and count upon for growth,
as well as the threat of possible natural disasters.
In response, we make efforts to assure ourselves that
BCSA is prepared to respond effectively to public safety
needs in the event of catastrophic loss in the province.
BCSA maintains a comprehensive business continuity
plan, which is reviewed and updated regularly,
underpinning our efforts to maintain preparedness
and mitigate the impacts to BCSA’s effectiveness during
extreme natural disasters and severe technical system
or equipment failures.

Our task for 2016 will be to continually enhance our
information and data management systems as well
as our transactional web portal services to meet our
clients’ needs and to move towards our goal to become
a knowledge-based business. We will further enhance
our safety presence by improving data quality within our
safety information database and refining our inspection
selection algorithm. To support these initiatives, prudent
fiscal management is required. The Board of Directors
has provided specific guidance with regards to expected
excess of revenues over expenses and the maximum
number of full-time equivalent (FTE) employees.
The healthy revenue volumes experienced in 2015
are expected to persist when adjusted for anticipated
fee increases. Costs are also expected to increase
but management will continue to find efficiencies
and actively promote fiscal responsibly. Therefore,
the 2016 contribution is expected to be at break
even and this is the goal over the next several years
as expressed in the 2016-2018 business plan.
The table below shows the details for 2016-2018.
For additional details on the outlook for 2016-2018,
please refer to our 2016-2018 Business Plan.
There are numerous factors, some beyond our control,
which could cause results to vary from expectations.
A key risk to the budget is the predicted strength of the
provincial economy. Table 3 below shows projected
revenue for the next three years.

Table 3
Projected Statement of Operations

2016-2018 Projections ($’000s)

2016

2017

2018

Service and related fees

50,980

52,752

54,053

New business initiatives

585

1,108

1,108

Investment and other income

460

460

460

Expenditures

(52,025)

(54,320)

(55,621)

Excess of revenue over expenses

0

0

0
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Managing revenues

Disclosure

For 2016, we anticipate revenues of $52 million, which
is consistent with 2015 revenue with conservative
volume assumptions for installation permits, and modest
revenue growth from new initiatives.

Throughout this Management Discussion and Analysis,
we have presented forward-looking information
based on assumptions and numerous factors beyond
our control that could cause results to differ from
expectations. All forward-looking statements within
this report should be understood to involve risks
or uncertainties that could cause actual financial
or operating results to differ significantly. We caution
that readers of the Management Discussion and
Analysis should not place reliance on any forwardlooking information included in this section.

Managing operating expenses
BCSA makes every effort to deliver necessary safety
programs as efficiently and cost effectively as possible.
Our 2016 operating budget will provide BCSA with
the basic budget to perform our mandated services with
an increased focus on operating permits while continuing
to invest in improvements. In service to clients and safety,
further system and support enhancements are planned
to expand our online transaction capabilities, and provide
better technological tools and software for our employees
to improve data collection, workflow efficiencies and data
sharing abilities. We anticipate that our operating
expenses will remain in line with our revenue growth
in 2017 and 2018.
Investing in infrastructure
For 2016, we have budgeted $3 million in capital
expenditures, of which $1.5 million relates to IT projects
that will move BCSA towards achieving its strategic
goals. Another $0.6 million has been earmarked
to refresh a portion of our existing fleet with new
vehicles, and $0.9 million will be put towards
leasehold improvements.
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March 31, 2016

Independent auditor’s report
To the Board of Directors of British Columbia
Safety Authority
We have audited the accompanying financial statements
of British Columbia Safety Authority, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2015
and the statements of changes in net assets, operations
and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related
notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations,
and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of British Columbia
Safety Authority as at December 31, 2015 and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Canadian Accounting Standards
for Not-for-Profit Organizations.

Chartered Professional Accountants

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Street, Suite 700, Vancouver,
British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7 T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.
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Statement of financial position
As at December 31, 2015
2015
$

2014
$

Cash

4,636,346

6,037,010

Accounts receivable (note 4)

2,714,306

2,465,753

853,684

671,539

Assets
Current assets

Prepaid expenses
Investments (note 5)

3,000,000

2,800,000

11,204,336

11,974,302

20,971,881

20,948,185

Intangible assets (note 6)

8,194,419

8,854,014

Property and equipment (note 7)

4,695,439

4,856,815

45,066,075

46,633,316

Investments (note 5)

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables and accruals (note 8)
Deferred revenue

Accrued employee future benefits (note 9)
Deferred leasehold inducements (note 10)

5,070,167

9,608,900

14,296,731

13,103,672

19,366,898

22,712,572

661,022

703,513

350,748

463,174

20,378,668

23,879,259

12,889,858

13,710,829

40,310

170,862

Capital reserve

3,000,000

2,800,000

Operating reserve

8,757,239

6,072,366

24,687,407

22,754,057

45,066,075

46,633,316

Net Assets
Investment in property, equipment and intangible assets
Externally restricted

Commitments (note 11)
Contingencies (note 12)

Approved by the Board of Directors

Richard Ballantyne				Hugh Gordon
Chair of the Board				
Chair, Finance and Audit Committee			

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in net assets
For the year ended December 31, 2015
2015

2014

Operating
reserve
$

Total
$

Total
$

2,800,000

6,072,366

22,754,057

22,221,614

-

-

59,327

59,327

44,519

-

-

-

1,874,023

1,874,023

487,924

(3,511,060)

-

-

3,511,060

-

-

2,690,089

-

(2,694,615)

4,526

-

-

Reduction in education reserve from
accident prevention and safety
education programs

-

(170,862)

-

170,862

-

-

Increase in education reserve from
monetary penalties

-

40,310

-

(40,310)

-

-

Increase in capital reserve

-

-

2,894,615

(2,894,615)

-

-

12,889,858

40,310

3,000,000

8,757,239

24,687,407

22,754,057

Investment in
property, equipment
and intangible assets
$

Externally
restricted
$

Capital
reserve
$

13,710,829

170,862

Actuarial gain on accrued employee
future benefits

-

Excess of revenue over expenses for
the year

Net assets – Beginning of year

Amortization of property, equipment
and intangible assets
Investment in property, equipment and
intangible assets - net

Net assets - End of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of operations
For the year ended December 31, 2015
2015
$

2014
$

51,472,509

46,105,158

415,002

514,691

51,887,511

46,619,849

34,011,124

31,408,513

General, operating and amortization

4,895,149

4,429,864

Amortization of property, equipment and intangible assets

3,511,060

3,392,750

Building occupancy

2,784,282

2,659,928

Communications and information services

2,448,915

1,922,982

Transportation

1,970,619

1,944,416

392,339

373,472

50,013,488

46,131,925

1,874,023

487,924

Revenue
Services and related fees
Investment and other income (note 13)

Expenses
Salaries and benefits

Corporate governance

Excess of revenue over expenses for the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended December 31, 2015
2015
$

2014
$

1,874,023

487,924

Amortization of deferred leasehold inducements

(112,426)

(112,426)

Amortization of property, equipment and intangible assets

3,511,060

3,392,750

177,667

81,499

Gain on disposal of property and equipment

(103,144)

(82,815)

Change in accrued employee future benefits

16,837

9,963

(3,776,372)

495,914

1,587,645

4,272,809

(1,812,526)

(1,474,009)

107,670

86,808

Purchases of intangible assets

(882,089)

(1,095,039)

Interest on investments re-invested

(401,364)

(386,864)

(2,988,309)

(2,869,104)

(1,400,664)

1,403,705

Cash - Beginning of year

6,037,010

4,633,305

Cash - End of year

4,636,346

6,037,010

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year
Adjustments to determine cash flows

Change in fair value on investments

Change in non-cash working capital accounts (note 14)

Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment

(Decrease) increase in cash

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to financial statements
December 31, 2015

1 Operations

Net assets

British Columbia Safety Authority (“BCSA”) is a not-for-profit
organization incorporated through the Safety Authority Act.
BCSA administers the service delivery components
of the Safety Standards Act delegated to it by the Province
of British Columbia. The delegation of authority is based
on an Administrative Agreement between the Province
of British Columbia and BCSA. The Administrative Agreement
establishes the rights and responsibilities and terms
and conditions of both parties.

a) Investment in property, equipment and intangible assets

BCSA delivers services in British Columbia by partnering with
business, industry and the general public to enhance the safety
of technical systems, products, equipment and work. BCSA
is responsible for overseeing the safety of electrical equipment
and systems, boilers, pressure vessels and refrigeration
systems, natural gas and propane appliances and systems,
elevating devices, railways, passenger ropeways
and amusement devices.

Net assets invested in property, equipment and intangible
assets represent the amount of net assets that are not
available for other purposes because they have been invested
in long-term assets.
b) Externally restricted net assets
In accordance with the Safety Standards Act, the education
reserve was established in 2010 to reserve monetary penalties
collected by BCSA to be expended on accident prevention
and safety education programs.
c) Capital reserve

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The capital reserve was established by the Board of Directors
in 2007 to fund long-term capital investment projects, such
as the modernization of facilities and information technology
systems. For 2015, the capital reserve includes the funding
requirement for 2016 planned capital investments.

Use of estimates

d) Operating reserve

The presentation of financial statements requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. In particular,
management makes estimates to determine the useful lives of
property and equipment and intangible assets, the percentage
of completion on revenue, and accrued employee future
benefits at the end of the year. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

The operating reserve represents the accumulated
unrestricted surplus of BCSA. The Board of Directors has
set an operating reserve target equal to 15% of the upcoming
annual operating expense budget inclusive of amortization
to ensure the sustainability of BCSA through unforeseen
economic events, which for 2015 would be approximately
$7.8 million.

Financial instruments
BCSA’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts
receivable, investments, and payables and accruals. Cash,
accounts receivable, and payables and accruals are initially
measured at fair value and then carried at amortized cost
at the statement of financial position date. Investments
are initially measured at, and also carried at fair value
at the statement of financial position date with changes
in fair value recognized within the statement of operations.
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Intangible assets
BCSA customizes third-party software for internal use.
Direct costs attributable to new customizations or significant
modifications to previous customizations are capitalized after
technological feasibility has been established. Direct costs
attributable to minor modifications of previous customizations
are expensed. Costs to support or service internally customized
third-party software are expensed in the period incurred.
Direct costs attributable to major safety program development
are capitalized. All intangible assets are recorded at cost.
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Amortization commences when the software is brought
in to service and is amortized using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets at the following
annual rates:
Software systems
Safety program development costs

5 to 8 years
5 years

Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Amortization
of property and equipment commences when it is brought
into service and is provided on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of the assets at the following
annual rates:
Computer hardware
Software systems integral
to hardware operations
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

3 to 5 years
3 years
5 years
5 years
term of the lease

Investments

Employee benefit plans
Public Service Pension Plan
BCSA and its permanent employees contribute to the
Public Service Pension Plan, a jointly trusteed pension plan.
The board of trustees, representing plan members and
employers, is responsible for overseeing the management
of the pension plan, including asset investment and plan
administration. The pension plan is a multi-employer
contributory defined benefit pension plan with over 56,000
active members, 43,000 retired members and 16,000 inactive
members as at March 31, 2015.
Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed
to assess the financial health of the plan and the adequacy
of the contribution rate for funding the plan. The latest valuation
as at March 31, 2014 indicated a $194 million surplus and
a funding ratio of 101.0% indicating that the plan is fully funded
and sufficient to pay the current and projected future lifetime
pensions of all members. As a result, the contribution rates
of members and employers remain unchanged. Employers
currently contribute between 9.43% and 10.93% of salaries.

Investments are carried at fair value based on published
quoted prices at year-end. All investments are held in pooled
funds. Investment income and changes in fair value are
recognized in the statement of operations.

The plan is accounted for on the defined contribution
basis, as it is not possible to separately identify the assets
and liabilities of the pension plan that relate to BCSA.

Short-term investments include those investments which
BSCA intends to hold for capital projects in the next fiscal year.
Investments that are expected to be realized beyond the next
fiscal year are classified as long-term.

Under the collective agreement and terms of employment,
BCSA accrues a provision for a Defined Supplemental
Retirement Benefit Plan as employees render the services
required to earn that benefit. Employees eligible to receive
a benefit from the Public Service Pension Plan upon retirement
and who have completed 20 years of service with BCSA are
entitled to an additional benefit from the Defined Supplemental
Retirement Benefit Plan. The additional benefit is calculated
as one to three month’s salary, based on years
of service between 20 and 30 (maximum).

Deferred leasehold inducements
Deferred leasehold inducements include amounts received
in lease agreements related to leasehold improvements.
Amortization of deferred leasehold inducements is recognized
over the initial term of the lease on a straight-line basis.

Defined Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan

Revenue recognition
Where the fee covers a specific period, revenues are
recognized evenly over that period. Where the fee does
not cover a specific period and is earned over a period of time,
estimates are used to determine the period over which revenue
is recognized, based on past history. In both cases, unearned
fees are recorded as deferred revenue. All other revenues
are recorded when services are performed.
Restricted contributions arising from monetary penalties
are accounted for using the restricted fund method.
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BCSA accrues the cost of these employee future benefits over
the periods in which the employees earn the benefit. The cost
of employee future benefits is actuarially determined using
the projected benefit method pro-rated on service and includes,
but is not limited to, management estimates of future salary
increases, the retirement age and date of employees
and discount rate. The discount rate used is based on market
rates as at the measurement date. Actuarial gains (losses)
arise from changes in actuarial assumptions used to determine
the accrued benefit obligation. Past service costs from plan
amendments and net actuarial gains or losses are recognized
immediately in the statement of changes in net assets.
The latest valuation was at December 31, 2013. Valuations
are performed every three years. Extrapolations of the last
valuation are performed by the actuary in years where a full
valuation is not performed. Information related to this plan
is provided in note 9.
Taxes
BCSA is a “tax exempt” organization as described in
the Income Tax Act and, as such, is exempt from federal
and provincial income taxes.

3

Financial instruments

The carrying value of accounts receivable and payables
and accruals approximates fair value as at December 31, 2015
and 2014.
BCSA classifies financial instruments measured at fair value
into one of three levels of a fair value hierarchy according
to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair
values: Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets; Level 2 measurements determined using valuation models that employ
observable inputs; and
Level 3 - measurements determined using valuation models
that employ unobservable inputs. All financial instruments
held by BCSA at December 31, 2015 are considered Level 2
(2014 - Level 2).
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Financial instruments risk, exposure and management
BCSA has exposure to the following risks from its financial
instruments: credit risk, market risk, interest rate risk,
and liquidity risk.
a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a
customer to honour its financial obligations. The only financial
instrument that potentially subjects BCSA to concentrations
of credit risk is its accounts receivable. The maximum
exposure to credit risk in terms of accounts receivable
in 2015 was $2,714,306 (note 4).
b) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices. Fair value risk is the potential for loss from
an adverse movement in the value of a financial instrument.
BCSA is exposed to fair value risk on its investments. BCSA
is not significantly exposed to foreign currency risk or other
price risk.
c) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that BCSA’s investments will change
in fair value due to future fluctuations in market interest rates.
The risk arises primarily on interest-bearing financial instruments
held in pooled money market and Canadian dividend funds.
d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that BCSA will not be able to meet
its financial obligations as they fall due. BCSA’s approach
to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have a sufficient
net monetary position and cash flow generated from operations
to fund the operations and settle debt and liabilities when due.
BCSA also maintains an operating reserve to mitigate this risk
(note 2).

FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS
4

Accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable over 120 days are reviewed quarterly. All amounts over $2,500 are reviewed for collectability
and specific provisions are made accordingly. For remaining accounts, management applies a general provision based
on past experience of collection.

2015
$

2014
$

Trade and other receivables

3,240,507

2,850,294

Allowance for doubtful accounts

(526,201)

(384,541)

2,714,306

2,465,753

The aging of accounts receivable as at December 31 was as follows:

2015
$

2014
$

1,448,104

1,562,947

Past due (31 - 60 days)

548,113

317,204

Past due (61 - 90 days)

184,608

182,196

Past due (91 - 120 days)

266,028

178,565

Past due greater than 120 days

793,654

609,382

Trade and other receivables

3,240,507

2,850,294

Allowance for doubtful accounts

(526,201)

(384,541)

2,714,306

2,465,753

Current
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Investments

Investments are currently managed by a third party investment manager and are held in short-term money market and Canadian
dividend funds. BCSA has decided to present as current assets only those investments that may be needed to fund capital
projects in the coming year. The balance is shown as long term.

		

2015

Cost
$

Fair value
$

Cost
$

Fair value
$

20,258,288

20,258,288

20,093,675

20,093,675

3,972,761

3,713,593

3,736,010

3,654,510

24,231,049

23,971,881

23,829,685

23,748,185

Money market fund
Canadian dividend fund

2014

		
2015		2014
		 $		 $
Current portion		
Long-term portion

6

3,000,000		

2,800,000

20,971,881

20,948,185

23,971,881

23,748,185

Intangible assets

			

2015

2014

		Accumulated
Cost
amortization
$
$

Net
$

Net
$

Software systems under development
Software systems
Safety program development costs

405,338

-

405,338

784,395

18,337,241

10,634,528

7,702,713

7,966,092

173,020

86,652

86,368

103,527

18,915,599

10,721,180

8,194,419

8,854,014

Software systems include the production system, HR management system, mobile apps and Business Intelligence software.
Safety program development costs include the elevating devices mechanic certification.
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Property and equipment

			
2015
		Accumulated
Cost
amortization
$
$
Computer hardware

2014

Net
$

Net
$

3,923,936

3,353,597

570,339

733,895

943,618

738,587

205,031

463,616

Vehicles

4,631,237

3,227,664

1,403,573

1,110,423

Furniture and equipment

2,891,310

2,105,023

786,287

775,121

Leasehold improvements

5,938,842

4,208,633

1,730,209

1,773,760

18,328,943

13,633,504

4,695,439

4,856,815

2015
$

2014
$

Payables and accruals

883,813

1,083,929

Government taxes and remittances

337,700

460,800

3,848,654

8,064,171

5,070,167

9,608,900

Software systems integral to
hardware operations

8

Payables and accruals

Wages and related costs payable

Government remittances consist of amounts (such as sales taxes, board of directors’ and employee payroll withholdings,
employee benefit costs, worker’s compensation premiums, etc.) required to be paid to government authorities and are recognized
when the amounts become due.
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Accrued employee future benefits

BCSA has two employee benefit plans: (1) the Public Service Pension Plan and (2) a Defined Supplemental Retirement
Benefit Plan.
The Public Service Pension Plan is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan which is accounted for on a defined
contribution basis. Contributions to the Public Service Pension Plan during the year were $2,478,078 (2014 – $2,277,800).
For the Defined Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan, BCSA accrues a provision as employees render the services required
to earn that benefit. Details of the liability, expense and actuarial assumptions of this plan are as follows:
a) Reconciliation of Defined Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan liability

2015
$

2014
$

703,513

738,069

Current service cost

49,484

45,122

Interest cost

24,623

30,261

Benefits paid

(57,271)

(65,420)

Actuarial gain

(59,327)

(44,519)

Accrued employee future benefits - End of year

661,022

703,513

2015
$

2014
$

Current service cost

49,484

45,122

Interest cost

24,623

30,261

Retirement benefit plan expense

74,107

75,383

Accrued employee future benefits - Beginning of year

b) Components of Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plan expense

c)	The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring BCSA’s accrued benefit obligation under the Defined Supplemental
Retirement Benefit Plan are as follows:

2015

2014

Discount rate

3.40%

3.50%

Rate of compensation increase

2.60%

2.60%

The accrued benefit obligation is not funded as funding is provided when benefits are paid. Accordingly, there are no plan assets.
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Deferred leasehold inducements relate to leasehold improvements in New Westminster, Vernon and Fort St. John offices
with an estimated remaining useful life of between two and four years.

Deferred leasehold inducements - Beginning of year
Less: Amortization to rent expense
Deferred leasehold inducements - End of year

2015
$

2014
$

463,174

575,600

(112,426)

(112,426)

350,748

463,174

11 Commitments
BCSA leases office space with future minimum annual payments over the next five years estimated as follows:

$
2016

2,688,612

2017

2,670,221

2018

2,634,624

2019

671,844

2020

167,255
8,832,556
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12 Contingencies
In the ordinary course of operations, BCSA may be contingently liable for litigation and claims with customers, suppliers
and employees. Specific claims have been brought against BCSA, the outcome of which is indeterminable at this time.
Liabilities on any litigation are recognized in the financial statements when the outcome becomes reasonably determinable.
In management’s judgment, no material exposure exists at this time on the eventual settlement of any existing litigation.

13 Investment and other income
2015
$

2014
$

417,453

400,440

(177,667)

(81,499)

239,786

318,941

26,112

60,185

103,144

82,815

45,960

52,750

415,002

514,691

2015
$

2014
$

Accounts receivable

(248,553)

(186,399)

Prepaid expenses

(182,145)

(98,390)

(4,538,733)

(185,067)

1,193,059

965,770

(3,776,372)

495,914

Investment income
Change in fair value on investments

Interest income
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Monetary penalties issued

14 Change in non-cash working capital accounts

Payables and accruals
Deferred revenue
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Committees,
Working Groups And
Advisory Panels
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Committees,
working groups and

Advisory panels
Technology advisory
committee members
Boilers, pressure vessels
& refrigeration technology
advisory committee
Derek Belton
Wayne Borrowman
Sanja Boskovic
Terry Connors
Ed Florencio
Rinus Jellema
Bert Johnson
Caleb Lawrence
Steven Lukawitski
Glenn McQuarrie
Richard Michael
Clayton Mullen
Bob Norton
Graham Smith
Electrical technology
advisory committee
Cam Duncan
Steve Dyck
Jim Gamble
Gary Geissinger
Lawrence Gibson
Mark Kelvin
Nick LeForte
Eddie Low
Jim Mummery
Seth Nair
Ken Scambler
Bill Strain
Adam van Steinburg
Gas technology
advisory committee
Derek Belton
Byron Book
Wayne Cankovic
Ian Chang
Russ Johnson

Technology advisory committee
working groups
Gary Lengle
Ian McHattie
Michael Pizzolato
Byron Rilling
Brian Sweet
Darrick Tisseur
Elevating devices
technology advisory
committee
Corrie Archer
Ray DeMeyer
Mike Funk
Rob Houston
Heiner Marnet
Randy Martin
Wendy Morrison
Steve Patrick
Louie Rapos
Mark Townsend
Monika Varga
Bunny Wortman
Passenger ropeways
technology advisory
committee
Pat Boyle
Arnie Budd
Danny Cox
Sue Dixon
David Lynn
Bruno Mannsberger
Hildur Sinclair
Warren Sparks
Mike St. Clair
George Trousdell
Shawn Whitty
Wayne Wiltse

Electrical
Review of 2015 edition
of the Canadian
electrical code
To review the 2015 edition
of the Canadian Electrical
Code and recommend BC
variations in preparation for
adoption into the Electrical
Safety Regulation
Dwayne Askin
Laird Cronk
Cam Duncan
Gary Geissinger
Bill Strain
Mike Shea
Ted Simmons
Mark Stevens
Ark Tsisserev
Review of annual operating
permit process
To review and recommend
improvements to BCSA’s
Electrical Operating Permit
process.
Lynda Conceiçao
Steve Dyck
Jim Gamble
Ulrich Janisch
Mark Kelvin
Nick LeForte
Ivan Pye
Adam van Steinburg
Travis White

Security alarm systems
To review the permitting
requirements for security
alarm systems
Gary Geissinger
Kevin Hincks
Mike Pilato
Stephen Platt
George Siegle
Electrical field safety
representatives
To review and recommend
improvements to the field
safety representatives
program, including a
mechanism to ensure they
remain knowledgeable of the
code and their duties
Ron Chambers
Loran Dick
Jim Gamble
Jason Hartshorne
Ulrich Janisch
Doug Kelly
Jim Mummery
Bill Strain
Adam van Steinburg
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Advisory panels
Technology advisory committee
working groups – continued
Gas
Gas safety
regulation review

Gas field safety
representatives

To review and make
recommendations to update
the Gas Safety Regulation
and other associated
regulations

To explore possible
integration of the field safety
representatives concept
within the gas safety program

Derek Belton
Dan Bradley
Barry Cavens
Review of maintenance,
operation and
administration
requirements for small gas
distribution systems

Clint Hillman
Russ Johnson
Rob Marchiori
Byron Rilling
Brian Sweet
Darrick Tisseur
Ian Turnbull
Brian Zinn

To review directive on terms
and conditions or a gas utility
operating permit and suggest
rewording for intended
application for small utilities
Wayne Cankovic
Barry Cavens
Matt Foley
Clint Hillman
Tim Kutaj
Rick Lake
Pat Miller
Brian Sweet
Ian Turnbull
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Boiler

Passenger ropeways

Technical safety issues for
refrigeration contractors
(Sub-Committee)

Certification of passenger
ropeway maintenance
personnel

To review and make
recommendations for
technical safety issues in the
refrigeration industry

To establish a verifiable and
consistent method to give
passenger ropeway
maintenance personnel the
knowledge, skills and ability
required to perform their work
correctly

Hamid Azarnoush
Wayne Borrowman
Eric Bradley
Mark Hampel
Wendell Marshall
Blaire Masztalar
Glenn McQuarrie
Kevin Schisler
Ron Strong
Education (sub-committee)
To review educational issues
such as standardizing the
process for approval of
training courses, and how to
effectively educate a surplus
of fourth class power
engineers to attempt to fill the
industry need for higher class
power engineers
Sanja Boskovic
Glenn McQuarrie
Clayton Mullen
Bob Norton

Eric Bobert
Pat Boyle
Arnie Budd
Danny Cox
Sue Dixon
Bob Falle
Jason Gill
Paul Harkins
Russell Karp
Dave Looney
David Lynn
Bruno Mannsberger
Kevin Nichol
Kate Pelletier
Dean Roberts
Hildur Sinclair
Warren Sparks
Franz Spichtig
Mike St. Clair
Miguel Trigo
George Trousdell
Ross White
Shawn Whitty
Wayne Wiltse

Committees,
working groups and

Advisory panels
Advisory panel of stakeholders
Greg Anderson
Gianluca Arcari
Deborah Cahill
Ann English
James Gorman
Philip Hochstein
Catherine Holt
Paul LaBranche
Manley McLachlan
Anne McMullin
Bert Neish
Nancy Olewiler
Lionel Railton
Lorne Richard
Dana Taylor
Adam van Steinburg
Jeff Vasey
Mitch Weimer
Bill Yearwood

Power engineering advisory panel
To provide industry insight into the power
engineering occupation and identify regulatory
barriers and improvements for recognizing
individuals with non-Canadian credentials
and qualifications
Lance Lane
Steven Lukawitski
Dave Nicolson
Eric Steinson
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Glossary
Alternative safety approaches (ASA)

Inspection

A performance-based approach to achieving compliance
with the Safety Standards Act, which allows owners
or operators of regulated equipment to meet safety
objectives in ways other than those prescribed
by the regulations.

A type of assessment where the regulated product,
equipment or work has been directly evaluated
by BC Safety Authority.

As-found hazard

The systematic collection, evaluation, and analysis
of facts and information related to a regulated product
or work.

A condition found by safety officers during physical
assessments, investigations, or audits of regulated work,
product, equipment, or safety systems where intrinsic
hazards are not suitably controlled.

Assessment
An evaluation or review of information relating
to regulated work or equipment.

Hazard
A source of potential harm to persons or potential
damage to property.

Incident
An event that occurred as a result of regulated work,
product or equipment that either caused death,
personal injury or damage to property, or created
a risk of personal injury or damage to property.
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Investigation

Non-compliance
A failure of a regulated product or work to conform
with applicable Acts and regulations.

Risk
The probability of a consequence; the potential
for an occurrence.

Tech Talk
An educational session for contractors, provided
by BCSA.

